



https://helda.helsinki.fi

Unveiling the complexity and ecological function of aquatic macrophyte-animal networks in coastal ecosystems

Manca, Federica

2022-08

Manca , F , Mulà , C , Gustafsson , C , Mauri , A , Roslin , T , Thomas , D N , Benedetti-Cecchi , L , Norkko , A & Strona , G 2022 , ' Unveiling the complexity and ecological function of aquatic macrophyte-animal networks in coastal ecosystems ' , Biological Reviews , vol. 97 , no. 4 , pp. 1306-1324 . https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12842

http://hdl.handle.net/10138/345995 https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12842

cc_by_nc publishedVersion

Downloaded from Helda, University of Helsinki institutional repository.

This is an electronic reprint of the original article.

This reprint may differ from the original in pagination and typographic detail.

Please cite the original version.

1306

Unveiling the complexity and ecological function of aquatic macrophyte–animal networks in coastal ecosystems

Federica Manca^{1*}, Clelia Mulà¹, Camilla Gustafsson², Achille Mauri¹, Tomas Roslin^{3,4}, David N. Thomas⁵, Lisandro Benedetti-Cecchi⁶, Alf Norkko^{2,7}, and Giovanni Strona^{1,8}

¹Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Organismal and Evolutionary Biology Research Programme, University of Helsinki, PO Box 65 Viikinkaari 1, Helsinki, 00014, Finland

² Tvärminne Zoological Station, University of Helsinki, J.A. Palménin tie 260, Hanko, 10900, Finland

³Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Ulls väg 16, Uppsala, 756 51, Sweden

⁴Spatial Foodweb Ecology Group, Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Helsinki, PO Box 27 Latokartanonkaari 5, Helsinki, 00014, Finland

⁵ Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Ecosystems and Environment Research Programme, University of Helsinki, PO Box 65 Viikinkaari 1, Helsinki, 00014, Finland

⁶Department of Biology, University of Pisa, CoNISMa, Via Derna 1, Pisa, Italy

⁷Baltic Sea Centre, Stockholm University, Svante Arrhenius väg 20 F, Stockholm, 106 91, Sweden

⁸Research Centre for Ecological Change, Organismal and Evolutionary Biology Research Programme, University of Helsinki, PO Box 65 Viikinkaari 1, Helsinki, 00014, Finland

ABSTRACT

Network theory offers innovative tools to explore the complex ecological mechanisms regulating species associations and interactions. Although interest in ecological networks has grown steadily during the last two decades, the application of network approaches has been unequally distributed across different study systems: while some kinds of interactions (e.g. plant–pollinator and host–parasite) have been extensively investigated, others remain relatively unexplored. Among the latter, aquatic macrophyte–animal associations in coastal environments have been largely neglected, despite their major role in littoral ecosystems. The ubiquity of macrophyte systems an ideal subject for ecological network science. In fact, macrophyte–animal networks offer an aquatic counterpart to terrestrial plant–animal networks. In this review, we show how the application of network analysis to aquatic macrophyte–animal associations has the potential to broaden our understanding of how coastal ecosystems function. Network analysis can also provide a key to understanding how such ecosystems will respond to on-going and future threats from anthropogenic disturbance and environmental change. For this, we: (*i*) identify key issues that have limited the application of network theory and modelling to aquatic animal–macrophyte associations; (*ii*) illustrate through examples based on empirical data how network analysis can offer new insights on the complexity and functioning of coastal ecosystems; and (*iii*) provide suggestions for how to design future studies and establish this new research line into network ecology.

Key words: ecological networks, bipartite networks, associations, coastal ecosystems, macrophytes, macroalgae, seagrasses, macrofauna

^{*} Address for correspondence (Tel: +39 334 1665787; E-mail: federica.manca@helsinki.fi)

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 1306–1324 © 2022 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1307
II.	The importance and diversity of macrophytes in coastal ecosystems	1308
III.	Why do we need macrophyte-animal networks?	1309
	(1) Macrophyte communities in a changing world	1309
	(2) Macrophyte–animal networks: reinventing the wheel?	1309
IV.	Are macrophyte–animal associations structured?	1310
V.	Potential challenges and pitfalls in assembling macrophyte-animal networks	1311
	(1) The complexity of ecological interactions in macrophyte–animal systems	1311
	(2) A multi-layer framework	1312
VI.	Investigating macrophyte-animal associations through network analysis: examples of applications .	1313
	(1) Building networks from literature data	1313
	(2) Exploring ecological network structure	1315
	(3) Exploring the effect of disturbance on macrophyte–animal network structure	1318
	(a) Mapping hypothetical co-extinction scenarios of macrophytes and animals	1318
	(b) Effects of experimental perturbation on macrophyte-animal networks	1319
VII.	Future directions	1320
VIII.	Conclusions	1320
IX.	References	1321
Х.	Supporting information	1324

I. INTRODUCTION

Network science offers innovative tools to explore the complex ecological mechanisms regulating species associations and interactions (Delmas et al., 2019). Rapid theoretical developments from multiple domains have recently provided researchers with new analytical and modelling tools, which allow us to venture beyond species-specific processes and to achieve a more realistic characterisation of the mechanisms regulating natural communities (Dunne, 2006; Landi et al., 2018; Delmas et al., 2019). This development has led to an increasing recognition that ecological interactions play a fundamental role in determining how ecological systems respond to environmental change (Woodward et al., 2010; Valiente-Banuet et al., 2015; Bruder et al., 2019). Several studies have revealed that the effects of direct drivers of species loss - such as global climate change or human overexploitation - can propagate through the many paths connecting species into complex ecological networks, causing secondary extinctions and even driving entire systems to collapse (Dunne & Williams, 2009; Strona & Lafferty, 2016; Strona & Bradshaw, 2018). This insight calls for increasing efforts to improve our understanding of the mechanisms controlling network dynamics and responses to perturbations which, in turn, requires the collection of proper data. Although the availability of information on the quality and intensity of ecological interactions is growing steadily (Poelen, Simons & Mungall, 2014), study effort is unequally distributed, hindering our ability to generalise and compare knowledge across different ecosystems.

Aside from food webs, which form an independent, longstanding research field studied through specific theoretical and computational tools (Dunne, 2006), there is a disproportionately large (and still growing) number of studies

addressing plant-pollinator networks compared to other kinds of interaction networks (Fig. 1). Other ecological interactions that have been investigated using network analysis (Fig. 1) include those between hosts and parasites (Runghen et al., 2021), bacteria and phages (Weitz et al., 2013), plants and seed dispersers (Donatti et al., 2011), plants and herbivores (Araújo, 2016), plants and epiphytes (Naranjo et al., 2019), plants/animals and their microbiota (Bennett, Evans & Powell, 2019), ants and their partner organisms (Cagnolo & Tavella, 2015), and cleaners and their clients (Quimbayo et al., 2018). Such studies have provided important insights into the mechanisms regulating natural systems and advanced our understanding of the relationship between network structure and ecological stability (Bascompte & Jordano, 2007; Fontaine & Thébault, 2015; Welti, Helzer & Joern, 2017; Vizentin-Bugoni et al., 2018). However, to the best of our knowledge, no study has explicitly focused on the complexity of aquatic macrophyte-animal interaction networks. Here and throughout the text we refer to 'macrophyte' as a general term including both macroalgae and aquatic rooted vascular plants.

In this review, we investigate the reasons why macrophyte–animal systems have so far been largely neglected by network scientists. We then illustrate, aided by examples based on literature data, how networks analysis and modelling offer a powerful and flexible framework to explore a broad suite of fundamental ecological questions. Finally, we discuss practical ways to promote the establishment of this new field of research and its integration into coastal ecology. While our analysis mainly focuses on macrophyte–animal associations in the marine environment, we believe the approach proposed herein could provide novel insights into the functioning and ecological structure of freshwater and brackish ecosystems as well.

Biological Reviews 97 (2022) 1306–1324 © 2022 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.



Network type

Fig. 1. Number of peer-reviewed publications per network type as retrieved from *Google Scholar* (on 23/12/2021; see Table S1 for a complete list of *Google Scholar* queries per network type). While different types of ecological interactions have been addressed using ecological network analysis in both terrestrial and aquatic habitats, no study has yet focused on aquatic macrophyte–animal networks.

II. THE IMPORTANCE AND DIVERSITY OF MACROPHYTES IN COASTAL ECOSYSTEMS

Macrophytes dominate most freshwater and shallow marine littoral habitats (Murphy et al., 2019; Wernberg et al., 2019). In coastal waters, macroalgae occur in sparse to dense assemblages as well as in large underwater 'forests', with large brown algae (kelp) canopies alone occupying more than 25% of the world's coastal areas (Wernberg et al., 2019). Around 150000 km² of seagrass meadows have been mapped globally (Green & Short, 2003; Duffy et al., 2019), while according to model estimates seagrass cover might extend to up to 1.6 million km² (Jayathilake & Costello, 2018; Duffy et al., 2019). Hot spots of freshwater macrophyte diversity are found in the Neotropics (Murphy et al., 2019). In the marine realm, seagrasses are more diverse in the Indo-Pacific region (Green & Short, 2003), while macroalgal diversity exhibits no clear latitudinal pattern (Bolton, 1994). In relatively speciespoor macrophyte systems, such as kelp forests or temperate seagrass beds, macrophyte genetic diversity plays a potentially important role for ecosystem functioning and stability (Reusch et al., 2005; Salo & Gustafsson, 2016; Wernberg et al., 2018). One peculiar system in this context is the Baltic Sea, a large brackish water body with a strong salinity gradient, which allows the coexistence of freshwater and marine

macrophyte species, resulting in high macrophyte diversity (Hällfors & Niemi, 1981).

Macroalgae and seagrasses play pivotal roles in coastal ecosystems. As prolific primary producers, they constitute key basal sources of energy in littoral food webs, which they fuel with both fresh vegetal material and detritus (Christie, Norderhaug & Fredriksen, 2009). Besides their trophic role, macrophytes participate in a broad range of other ecological associations, hence promoting animal diversity. By their mere presence, they generate complex three-dimensional structures, which provide critical habitat for a variety of organisms with various requirements and life strategies. Organisms benefitting from such structures range from epiphytic algae to invertebrates and fish seeking shelter from predators or hydrodynamics, or a suitable substrate on which to nest or breed (Christie et al., 2009; Duffy et al., 2019). Furthermore, macroalgae and seagrasses contribute to multiple ecosystem services: by providing essential habitats and foraging and nursery grounds for many fish species of commercial interest, they sustain coastal fisheries globally (Nordlund et al., 2018). Macrophytes also mitigate pollution and eutrophication, which represent some of the main threats to the integrity of coastal ecosystems (Howarth et al., 2000). As a result of their metabolism, macrophytes can 'filter' water, retaining nutrients in their biomass and reoxygenating the sediments (McGlathery, Sundbäck & Anderson, 2007). By absorbing carbon dioxide from the water column and sequestrating it in the seafloor they act as important carbon sinks in coastal waters (Duarte *et al.*, 2010; Krause-Jensen & Duarte, 2016; Watanabe *et al.*, 2020). Lastly, they provide physical protection for coastlines and mitigate beach erosion – services which are imperilled by progressing, climateinduced change (Ondiviela *et al.*, 2014; Innocenti, Feagin & Huff, 2018).

III. WHY DO WE NEED MACROPHYTE-ANIMAL NETWORKS?

(1) Macrophyte communities in a changing world

Macrophyte communities are exposed to multiple local and global stressors, including nutrient enrichment, pollution, outbreaks of grazers caused by overfishing of predatory fish, invasive species, increasing sedimentation and temperature rise (Strain *et al.*, 2014; Takolander, Cabeza & Leskinen, 2017). These major disturbance factors are driving extensive regime shifts in seaweed and seagrass assemblages worldwide, often resulting in the loss of complex, persistent canopy-forming macrophytes in favour of simpler, transient mat-forming species with lower ecological value (Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.*, 2001; Airoldi *et al.*, 2014; Mineur *et al.*, 2015; Unsworth *et al.*, 2015; Gorman *et al.*, 2020).

Changes in macrophyte community composition inevitably alter the range of ecological services that they provide to their associated fauna *via* trophic and non-trophic relationships, with consequent shifts in animal diversity and abundance (Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.*, 2001; Edgar *et al.*, 2004; Lilley & Schiel, 2006). The mechanisms through which disturbance propagates from macrophyte to animal communities are complex and elusive: as macrophyte–animal systems are embedded in larger littoral food webs, perturbations at the level of macrophyte–animal links are likely to propagate to higher trophic levels through cascading effects (Cordone *et al.*, 2018; Strona & Bradshaw, 2018) and may affect species of particular ecological and/or commercial value. In worst-case scenarios, these domino effects might ultimately drive whole regime shifts in coastal ecosystems (Wernberg *et al.*, 2016).

The primary role of macrophytes in maintaining littoral biodiversity and coastal ecosystem functioning, and their vulnerability to human activities and climate change, call for a deeper understanding of the complex mechanisms through which macroalgae and seagrasses sustain their associated biological communities. In this context, ecological network analysis might provide a powerful tool to investigate the structure and dynamics of macrophyte–animal associations.

(2) Macrophyte-animal networks: reinventing the wheel?

Studies of aquatic macrophytes (and their associated fauna) have largely focused on coastal food webs. These are typically represented as a set of *nodes*, symbolising different taxa or functional groups, and *links*, illustrating the possible trophic interactions between each given pair of nodes (Fig. 2). Why are we then claiming novelty in the application of network theory to macrophyte–animal associations? To answer this question, it is important to clarify that when discussing macrophyte–animal networks, we are not referring to a subset of nodes and links extracted from a complete coastal food web but, instead, to an organic entity that stands on its own.

Considerable work has been done to clarify the trophic relationships between aquatic macrophytes and their consumers, especially through stable isotope analysis (Crawley *et al.*, 2009; Porri, Hill & McQuaid, 2011; Bessa, Baeta & Marques, 2014; Kahma *et al.*, 2021; Liénart *et al.*, 2021). However, when considered as parts of 'complete' coastal food webs, the macrophyte–animal component is often



Fig. 2. A simplified view of a hypothetical coastal ecosystem either disregarding (A, B) or accounting for (C, D) the complexity of macrophyte–animal networks, and the potential changes in the overall food-web structure following the loss of macrophyte diversity (B, D). Note how the lack of resolution in (B) results in an overestimation of food-web robustness against macrophyte loss.

regarded as a generic source of energy for the upper trophic levels, while the dynamics of the links directly connecting macrophytes to animal species are often neglected. With few exceptions (Coll *et al.*, 2011; Kéfi *et al.*, 2015; Cordone *et al.*, 2018; Momo *et al.*, 2020), macrophyte and invertebrate links are frequently pooled into single nodes in the food-web representation, while only links connecting nodes at higher trophic levels are represented in full detail. This imbalance in detail is mostly due to the fact that information on trophic interactions in coastal food webs frequently stems from the analysis of predators' diets (Olivier *et al.*, 2019), while identifying large numbers of small-body-sized organisms – and the trophic interactions they participate in – is more challenging.

However, this over-simplification is likely to affect our understanding of the processes taking place at the macrophyte-animal interface. In particular, combining multiple species into single food-web nodes fuels the assumption that pooled species are ecologically equivalent, and hence that changes in their diversity or relative abundances will have no effects on food-web functioning and other ecosystem processes (Fig. 2A, B). This perception stands in sharp contrast with various empirical and observational studies showing how changes in macrophyte community composition can have strong effects at higher trophic levels (Edgar et al., 2004; Wernberg et al., 2016). Conversely, identifying the potentially complex structure of macrophyte-animal associations might reveal novel patterns, and enhance our ability to model processes at the macrophyte-animal level and their potential effects on the rest of the food web (Fig. 2C, D).

In contrast to classical food-web studies, the subject of this review is the networks connecting macrophyte species with their associated fauna. The key differences between the macrophyte–animal networks that we propose here and coastal food webs are the following:

(1) As a general rule, in food webs, each node can simultaneously be a consumer or a resource for other consumers. This makes them unipartite, in contrast with other types of ecological networks (such as mutualistic and host-parasite networks), where nodes can often be categorised into distinct groups (e.g. plants or pollinators), with links occurring only between (but not within) groups. When such networks include two categories, they are *bipartite*, and when they include more types, they are *multipartite*. This distinction between uni-, bi- and multipartite networks implies differences in how they are studied and in how their structural properties are interpreted in ecological terms (Dormann et al., 2017). Technically, a unipartite food web is an ecological network. However, for simplicity, in the following we will refer to food webs in their classical, trophic sense as 'food webs' and to all other kinds of bipartite networks (such as those in Fig. 1) as 'ecological networks'. The object of this review will be animal-macrophyte *bipartite* networks, as distinct from unipartite coastal food webs.

- (2) We look at generic associations (i.e. not only at trophic interactions, as in the case of food webs). In aquatic macrophyte-animal systems there are multiple types of potential associations, each possibly revealing different forms of interactions including herbivory, habitat dependency and various form of symbiosis at different positions in the mutualism-parasitism continuum (Leung & Poulin, 2008). Such interactions are not equivalent from an ecological perspective and might potentially be used to identify distinct ecological networks (see Section V). Likewise, similar patterns of associations can emerge from different types of interactions. However, while detecting spatial associations can be relatively easy, detecting interactions is challenging, especially in aquatic ecosystems. For this reason, throughout this review, we use the generic term 'association' to refer to animal species that are preferentially or exclusively found on or in close proximity to a macrophyte. Our underlying assumption is that the recurring presence of an animal species on a given macrophyte species points towards the existence of a certain degree of dependency, prompting the expectation that the target animal would disappear (or substantially drop in abundance) following the loss of the host macrophyte.
- (3) We are interested in species-specific associations; that is, we do not consider (*a priori*) macrophyte or animal species as interchangeable nodes in a network. Instead, we consider network analysis as an important tool to reveal to what extent species loss and changes in species composition can modify the overall structure of association networks, thereby potentially modulating their persistence – with subsequent effects on other species with direct links or indirect paths to species lost from or acquired by the community.

IV. ARE MACROPHYTE-ANIMAL ASSOCIATIONS STRUCTURED?

Despite a lack of focused research on the structure of macrophyte-animal networks, several studies have explored different aspects of macrophyte-animal associations, both in the freshwater (see Gerrish & Bristow, 1979; Biggs & Malthus, 1982; Rooke, 1984; Kurashov et al., 1996; Mhlanga & Siziba, 2006) and marine realms (e.g. Virnstein & Howard, 1987; Dhargalkar, Burton & Kirkwood, 1988; Russo, 1990; Parker, Duffy & Orth, 2001; Trowbridge, 2004; Pereira et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2007; Wikström & Kautsky, 2007; Gustafsson & Boström, 2009; Nakamoto et al., 2018). Studies to date span from polar (e.g. Amsler et al., 2015) to temperate (e.g. Piazzi et al., 2018) and tropical (e.g. Tano et al., 2016) waters. As we demonstrate in Section VI, these studies offer candidate material to build and explore proof-of-concept macrophyte-animal networks. However, only a small fraction of published literature/data sets includes the

kind of information needed to compile a network. In particular, many available studies focus on the faunal assemblages of a few selected macroalgae and seagrass species (Russo, 1990; Gee & Warwick, 1994; Lippert *et al.*, 2001; Parker *et al.*, 2001; Chemello & Milazzo, 2002; Saarinen, Salovius-Laurén & Mattila, 2018), while there is comparatively less material providing suitable data to build detailed ecological networks.

Beyond the taxonomic challenges mentioned above, which can now be tackled with next-generation molecular techniques (Leray & Knowlton, 2015), there are other practical aspects which complicate a comprehensive collection of macrophyte-animal associations, for example, related to sampling (Jordano, 2016a). However, in addition to these, more conceptual reasons might lie behind the tendency for ecologists to look at pairwise associations between macrophytes and animals without attempting to combine them into ecological networks. Most notably, there is a common perception that, unlike their terrestrial analogues, aquatic macrophyte-animal systems are permeated by widespread generalism in resource-consumer associations (Taylor & Cole, 1994; Bates & DeWreede, 2007). If this view was true, it would weaken the expectation for structural patterns and make a network approach ineffective and no more informative than, for instance, quantitative studies using plant biomass and diversity as predictors of animal abundance and diversity (Kraufvelin & Salovius, 2004; Gollety, Thiebaut & Davoult, 2011; Zhang et al., 2021).

Often, in the aquatic literature, animals found associated with only a few species of macrophytes are classified as 'generalists' (Lewis, 1987; Taylor & Cole, 1994; Lippert et al., 2001). The tendency to consider specialisation in macrophyte-animal systems as a binary property (where only animals associated with a single macrophyte species are considered 'specialists') might have inflated the idea of macrophyte-animal interactions as systems dominated by generalists (Devictor et al., 2010). Such a perception might have been exacerbated by the tendency to focus on dominant macrophyte (or associated animal) species (Russo, 1989; Taylor & Cole, 1994) and hence to overlook potential patterns of specialised associations involving less-abundant species (Arrontes, 1999). Taken together, these aspects might have discouraged attempts to explore macrophyte-animal associations through network analysis, by conveying the biased impression of a lack of ecological structure.

By contrast, as our theoretical understanding of the ubiquitous importance of ecological interactions (and their complex organisation) has improved (Jordano, 2016b), it has also become clearer that such a view might represent a severe oversimplification. This is further supported by various observational and experimental studies on macrophyte– animal systems which have demonstrated that there actually is structure in these associations.

Among the variety of factors that shape animal assemblages in submerged vegetated habitats, macrophyte morphological complexity and architecture (Gee & Warwick, 1994; Chemello & Milazzo, 2002; Huang *et al.*, 2007) seem to play an important role in driving host

Society.

selection by fauna. Adding secondarily to such selection is the chemical composition – and hence often nutritional quality – of macrophytes (Hay *et al.*, 1987; Hay, Duffy & Fenical, 1990; Duffy & Hay, 1991; Lastra *et al.*, 2008). Although this rarely results in tight specialisation (i.e. animals tend not to depend on single macrophyte species), evidence of different degrees of dietary or habitat specialisation does exist (Trowbridge, 1993, 2004; Sotka, 2005; Baumgartner, Pavia & Toth, 2014).

While a few studies seem to support the idea that animals and macrophytes interact randomly (Bates & DeWreede, 2007; Amsler et al., 2015), there is growing evidence that the composition, diversity and relative abundance of faunal assemblages vary substantially (and in a non-random fashion) in response to changes in associated macrophyte communities (Lippert et al., 2001; Chemello & Milazzo, 2002; Bates, 2009; Schaal et al., 2016; Machado et al., 2019). Furthermore, experiments involving canopy removal have shown how the loss of macroalgal canopy and the subsequent invasion by algal turfs deeply changes the composition and structure of understorey invertebrate assemblages (Dayton, 1975; Benedetti-Cecchi et al., 2001, 2015; Strain et al., 2014; Rindi et al., 2017).

Overall, these studies provide strong support for the idea that, rather than being governed by randomness, macrophyte–animal associations might instead be structured. This, in turn, implies that ecological network analysis can provide useful theoretical and analytical tools to explore macrophyte–animal associations and unveil their organisation. In the following sections, we dig deeper into the variety of ecological interactions involved in macrophyte–animal systems and the challenges they pose for network analysis. Through practical examples and different approaches, we then illustrate the wide range of information that one can obtain by assembling ecological networks of macrophytes and animals, and the benefits that such an innovative approach can bring to this field of study.

V. POTENTIAL CHALLENGES AND PITFALLS IN ASSEMBLING MACROPHYTE–ANIMAL NETWORKS

(1) The complexity of ecological interactions in macrophyte-animal systems

The ecological relevance of macrophytes in coastal communities is not limited to their trophic role, but encompasses a complex range of non-trophic antagonistic, mutualistic, and commensal relationships (York *et al.*, 2018; Momo *et al.*, 2020; see also Section II). Sometimes the boundaries between interaction types are blurred and assessing whether an animal species is beneficial or detrimental to the associated macrophytes can be complicated (see Section V.2). For example, a common form of interaction in macrophyte systems is epiphytism. In general, macroalgae and seagrasses facilitate sessile invertebrates by providing surfaces for attachment, and hence decreasing competition for space (York *et al.*, 2018). By growing on kelp fronds, colonial hydrozoans reduce competition for space in the benthos and increase their accessibility to food resources in the water column. At the same time, they provide their macrophyte hosts with ammonium, while defending them from grazers (Hepburn & Hurd, 2005; González-Duarte, Megina & Subida, 2020). However, epiphytic organisms, such as bryozoans, often have negative effects on macrophytes, as they reduce access to light and diffusion of nutrients and gases (Muñoz, Cancino & Molina, 1991; Hurd, Durante & Harrison, 2000).

Other mutualistic interactions can be observed between mesograzers, such as amphipods, and macroalgae. Amphipods facilitate macroalgae by feeding on smaller epiphytic algae that compete for light and space, while macroalgae provide amphipods with a refuge from predators (Amsler, McClintock & Baker, 2014).

Another aspect that can complicate interpreting the nature of ecological interactions in macrophyte–animal systems is that this nature might shift when abiotic conditions change. For example, sponges and seagrasses can establish commensalistic interactions, where the growth of the former has a neutral effect on the latter (Archer, Hensel & Layman, 2018). However, under high nutrient loading, the interaction can become detrimental for the seagrass and shift to antagonistic (Archer *et al.*, 2018).

In specific settings, macrophytes too might have a negative impact on the associated fauna, as in the case of seaweeds with large fronds, which can impede faunal settlement and grazing through the so-called 'whiplash effect' (Iken, 2012). Periodic shedding of outer cell walls by some algae also removes epiphytic layers and associated grazers (Russell & Veltkamp, 1984). However, in general, canopy-forming macroalgae maintain diversified assemblages of understorey algae and invertebrates (Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.*, 2001; Strain *et al.*, 2014).

The general picture emerging from these examples of interactions is composite and suggests that, to disentangle the complexity of macrophyte–animal associations and to explore their structure effectively, we need an appropriate analytical approach.

(2) A multi-layer framework

How to synthesise the complexity of species interactions within a single theoretical and analytical framework is a significant ecological challenge (Jordano, 2016b). For instance, in terrestrial plant–animal systems, many different trophic (e.g. plant–herbivores) and non-trophic interactions (e.g. plant–pollinators and plant–seed dispersers) have been shown to play simultaneous, intertwined roles in ecological processes (Pocock, Evans & Memmott, 2012). Traditionally, different kinds of interactions have been addressed as separate entities in specific branches of network ecology (Bascompte & Jordano, 2007; Donatti *et al.*, 2011; Araújo, 2016). Recently, attempts have been made to move beyond the strict categorisation of networks and to

investigate multiple types of ecological interactions within a unifying, multi-layer network framework (see Melián *et al.*, 2009 and Pocock *et al.*, 2012 for plant–animal systems, and Lafferty *et al.*, 2008 and Kéfi *et al.*, 2015 for food webs). Networks composed of multiple layers of interactions might offer an increasingly realistic representation of ecological complexity (García-Callejas, Molowny-Horas & Araújo, 2018) by capturing better the multifaceted nature of species interactions in natural systems.

Given the composite suite of relationships linking macrophytes and their associated fauna, a multi-laver network approach appears an optimal choice to explore these systems. However, while the approach has solid theoretical foundations from physics (see Pilosof et al., 2017), integrating multiple interaction types into single networks poses many practical challenges. As discussed above, identifying which interactions lie behind observed associations is, in general, extremely challenging. This is true also for well-investigated systems: for example, 'cheating' strategies in plantpollinator (Thakar et al., 2003) or client-cleaner interactions (Guimarães Jr et al., 2007) greatly complicate the distinction between mutualistic and antagonistic interactions. In aquatic macrophyte-animal systems, the simultaneous sampling (and identification) of multiple kinds of interactions is an ambitious task, due to the variability of the associations in space and time (Christie et al., 2009; Machado et al., 2019). Moreover, there are practical challenges in identifying and recording species interactions in the marine environment compared to terrestrial habitats. However, the promising results obtained by the first studies on multi-layer networks (Lafferty et al., 2008; Melián et al., 2009; Pocock et al., 2012; Kéfi et al., 2015) should encourage ecologists to embrace the challenge.

One practical way to assemble multiple-interactions networks is to take advantage of pre-existing knowledge on species interactions within a target area or system (Kéfi et al., 2015; Puche et al., 2020). As an example, Kéfi et al. (2015) assembled a comprehensive network of trophic and nontrophic interactions in the Chilean rocky shore intertidal community from a large data set encompassing studies conducted over 40 years. However, such an approach is an exception rather than a rule. In the specific case of macrophyte-animal associations, information on the nature of ecological interactions is sparse. Although this has been thoroughly investigated in some systems, as is the case for Antarctic seaweeds and their associated fauna (Amsler et al., 2014; Heiser et al., 2020; Momo et al., 2020), sufficient pre-existing information is typically lacking. This knowledge gap highlights the need for *de-novo* observational and experimental studies. Considering the motivation behind this review, we are certainly at too early a stage to set such an ambitious goal, and it therefore seems appropriate to start by looking at single layers of associations. Nevertheless, it is important to identify a multi-layer representation of macrophyte-animal networks as the long-term target, to ensure that the steps taken now will continue to move us in the right direction.

In the following section, we attempt to start that process by reconstructing some preliminary macrophyte–animal networks based on data sets available in the literature. In line with the considerations above, our source data do not include details about the type of interactions (e.g. mutualism, commensalism, antagonism) behind the observed associations. However, they allow us to illustrate how a network perspective can be used to extrapolate novel valuable information not attainable with other approaches. They also allow us to demonstrate how a network approach can significantly change our understanding of the macrophyte–animal systems under study. Our hope is that these simple examples will stimulate the interest of researchers to either reconsider already-collected data from a new perspective and/or to start collecting new data with network analysis in mind.

VI. INVESTIGATING MACROPHYTE-ANIMAL ASSOCIATIONS THROUGH NETWORK ANALYSIS: EXAMPLES OF APPLICATIONS

In this section, we use empirical data to reconstruct a suite of bipartite macrophyte–animal networks, investigate their structure and properties and model the effects of disturbance. The data sets were selected based on their suitability for network analysis and not following any specific ecological or geographical criteria. All analyses were run in the free software Python 3.6.9 and R 3.6.3 and the code allowing full replication of the analyses is freely available at https://github.com/mancfede/macrophyte_animal_networks.

(1) Building networks from literature data

We identify two categories of data sets that can be used to build tentative ecological networks of macrophytes and animals. The first consists of potential interaction data, which are most often represented by checklists of the fauna associated with a given and often small set of macrophyte species. Usually, such data sets report quantitative information (e.g. the number of individuals or the biomass of a given animal species found on a given macrophyte individual/species). The second category consists of co-occurrence data, for example of lists of macrophyte and animal species found within the same sampling unit. With appropriate caveats (Freilich et al., 2018; Blanchet, Cazelles & Gravel, 2020), this information can be used to identify pairwise associations, by establishing which species tend to be found together more often than predicted by chance and/or by a set of environmental/ecological factors. Pairwise associations can then be combined into association networks (Araújo et al., 2011; Berry & Widder, 2014; Harris, 2016). It should be highlighted that the idea of using co-occurrence to infer ecological interactions is currently debated (Freilich *et al.*, 2018; Blanchet et al., 2020). A key aim of this review is to encourage studies specifically designed to collect reliable data on species interactions. Thus, we present here the approach that is best

able to obtain additional information from data originally collected for purposes different from network analysis. The distinction between the two categories can be subtle, as data of fauna associated with macrophytes are somehow a (stricter) form of co-occurrence. However, the following two examples may act to clarify the distinction.

As an example of the first category (data set of pairwise associations/checklists of animals associated with a given macrophyte individual/species), we use the data from Table 1 in Huang et al. (2007). This table reports the number of gammaridean amphipods found on eight different dominant macroalgal species from the West Antarctic Peninsula. Ideally, this measure could be used to build a weighted network. The most straightforward way to do this would be to generate a link between an algal and an amphipod species, with the weight of the link equalling the number of individuals reported in the table. A further step would be to standardise the link weights by dividing them by the total number of amphipod individuals (of all species). Such a choice would emphasise the absolute strength of the interactions, by giving higher weights to dominant species compared to rare ones (Fig. 3A). An alternative approach to standardise weights would be to divide the number of amphipods found on given algae by the total number of amphipods of that species. Such an approach would emphasise patterns of amphipod specialisation, without penalising rare species occurring at low abundances (Fig. 3B).

Regardless of the criterion adopted to attribute and standardise weights, a weighted network can be investigated without transformation, or first be transformed into an unweighted network. Such transformation requires identifying a threshold for the interaction strength below which links are disregarded. For example, referring again to the data set from Huang et al. (2007) one could build an unweighted network (Fig. 3C) by arbitrarily considering an amphipod as associated with a target alga if at least 1% of the individuals of a given amphipod species was found on the target alga. This is equivalent to imposing a threshold for interaction strength of 0.01 on the network reported in Fig. 3C. While the strongest potential associations can be derived directly from the original table, exploring how the density of ecological interactions declines as we raise the threshold for interaction strength could yield insights into the degree of specialisation of the system.

Although setting a threshold might be arbitrary in itself, the exploration of how different thresholds affect the outcome can be used to guide the choice. For example, in the data set from Huang *et al.* (2007), consider the weighted network obtained by dividing the number of individual amphipods found on one alga by the total number of individuals of the same amphipod species found on all algae (Fig. 3B). In describing relevant amphipod/algae patterns of specialisation regardless of species abundance, it might make sense to use the minimum value ensuring that all the amphipod species are included in the network. This threshold turned out to be 0.295 (Fig. 3D). However, in the case of the network with weights standardised by the total number of individuals



Fig. 3. Potential networks of associations between macroalgae (green) and gammaridean amphipods (blue) in the Western Antarctic Peninsula, derived from Huang *et al.* (2007). Link weights are standardised by dividing the number of amphipods per amphipod species found on one macroalga by (A) the total number of individuals of all amphipod species or (B) the number of individuals of only the amphipod species considered. C illustrates an unweighted network obtained by setting a threshold of interaction strength of 0.01 to the network of panel A. In the panels on the right (D, E) we show how the choice of different thresholds of interaction weight for the networks in B and A affects network connectance (i.e. the density of links), as well as the number of algae and amphipods included in the resulting unweighted (binary) networks. The network shown in D is an unweighted version of the network in B after setting a threshold of interaction strength at 0.295 (dashed line), ensuring that all amphipod species are maintained. The network shown in E is an unweighted version of the network in A after setting a threshold of 0.0014 (dashed line) ensuring that all macroalgal species are maintained, while only the amphipod species participating in the strongest associations remain.

(Fig. 3A), it might make sense to choose a threshold regardless of its effect on the number of amphipod species left in the network. Since one interesting aspect of that network would be identifying strong associations possibly having important ecosystem effects, choosing a threshold which simultaneously eliminates links involving few individuals and rare amphipod species could be a good choice. A possible option could be that of selecting as a threshold the minimum interaction strength ensuring that all algae are left in the data set (i.e. 0.0014) (Fig. 3E). This threshold leaves us with 11 amphipod species (from the initial 32), and a quite simplified version of the network possibly representative of the 'core' interaction set. However, there is no right or wrong criterion in this regard, nor a 'golden rule' applicable to all situations.

As an example of the second possible category of data sets that might be used to obtain a network (that is data sets reporting the independent occurrence of macrophytes and animals across a set of samples), we compiled two macrophyte–animal networks using a data set from Nakamoto *et al.* (2018). This data set was generated by assessing the diversity and biomass of macrophytes in a subtropical seagrass-seaweed mixed bed in Okinawa. While the original study aimed to assess the effect of macrophyte phylogenetic diversity on the species diversity of associated epibenthic invertebrates, the same data can be used to identify, with a network approach, relevant associational patterns. As examples, one may score which macrophyte-invertebrate associations are maintained over time and the degree of specialisation of the system.

In the original study, researchers set twelve 50 cm \times 50 cm quadrats and then counted mobile epibenthic invertebrates in each quadrat in two consecutive years. Due to the sampling procedure, the data set provides information only on the number and identity of invertebrates and the respective biomass of all macrophytes found within the same quadrat. This does not permit a direct network reconstruction. We therefore inferred potential associations based on the co-occurrence between animal and macrophytes across quadrats. For this, we first quantified the observed co-occurrence for any possible macrophyte–animal pair as the total number of quadrats where both candidate interacting partners were

found. Then, to determine which species associations occur more frequently than expected by chance, we compared the observed co-occurrence with that measured in 1000 randomised assemblages obtained by randomly reallocating animals across quadrats. These assemblages were constructed by keeping the number of occurrences per macrophyte and animal operational taxonomic unit (OTU) fixed, while permitting the number of occurrences per quadrat to vary freely. In particular, we computed, for each candidate pair, a Pvalue as the fraction of randomised assemblages where the target pair had a co-occurrence equal or higher than that observed in the real assemblage. Finally, we generated a network by collating all the pairs where P < 0.05. We replicated the procedure individually for samples collected either in the first (2014) or second (2015) year of the survey, hence obtaining two distinct networks (Fig. 4A, B). These two networks can optionally be combined into a multitemporal network, thus allowing separation between species associations present during both years of sampling, and those present in an individual year only (Fig. 4C).

(2) Exploring ecological network structure

To illustrate the wider utility of network analysis for distinguishing differences versus similarities in the constellation of biotic associations over time, consider the two networks in Fig. 4A, B. Such networks will ideally represent the same system at two different times. We can look at those networks from a qualitative perspective, focusing on the taxonomic identity of the nodes involved in the links. In this way, the two networks can be compared in a straightforward manner, highlighting common elements and differences in the association set. The core structure of the networks appears stable between years, with more than 30% of the links being shared between the two networks regardless of changes in species composition (Fig. 4C), and all the links preserved when focusing only on species present in both surveys. These results provide support for the idea that the associations between macrophytes and animals indeed might be structured and hence be particularly suitable for network analysis. But what if, instead, we had found profound differences between the link identities? Would that have meant that the two networks were completely different?

This is where the power of network analysis resides. In Fig. 4A, B, we have plotted species so that their horizontal position is kept consistent in the different networks in order to facilitate comparison. Yet, this is the only aspect that hints at species' identity. Other than that, all the species are represented in the network with the same symbol. On one hand, this is a graphical choice: we might have used different silhouettes for the different species, or different node colours, or spelt out species' names. On the other hand, the main value of using networks is that of having an abstract, simplified and yet extremely informative representation of a complex system. In such a representation, the taxonomic identity of nodes becomes irrelevant, while what really matters is how those nodes are arranged and how that arrangement



Fig. 4. Networks mapping potential associations between macrophytes and mobile epibenthic invertebrates in a subtropical seagrass–seaweed mixed bed in Okinawa (from Nakamoto *et al.*, 2018), shown separately for two different years (A, B) and for both years combined (C). In C, nodes are colourcoded to show the year(s) in which they were observed; grey lines represent links observed only during one sampling campaign, while black lines represent links observed in both surveys. Note that around one-third of the links are preserved between years (C), indicating associations which are potentially stable over time.

generates global and local structural patterns. In this way, networks offer a convenient framework to obtain objective measures useful to describe and compare natural systems, even when the respective networks are inhabited by taxonomically fully distinct assemblages.

Several metrics have been developed for characterising network structure. The main distinction is between local measures (i.e. properties of a node or link) and global measures (i.e. properties of the whole network). Additionally, there are 'meso-structure' indicators, such as core–periphery metrics. It should be noted that there are differences between the structural metrics typical of unipartite networks, such as food webs (Dunne, 2006), and those typical of bipartite networks (Ings *et al.*, 2009) such as plant–pollinator networks and macrophyte–animal networks as we are presenting them here. In the following examples, we will refer mostly to metrics for bipartite networks. To illustrate how they may be used to resolve key features of macrophyte–animal networks, we will next consider different descriptors of specialisation and of the importance of different nodes.

To characterise network structure, both local and global measures can be used in ecological analysis. The most obvious example of a local measure is node degree, which is the number of in- and out-coming links of a target node. This local measure can be used to obtain a global 'fingerprint' of the network, which is the probability distribution of node degrees (a network's degree distribution). A typical procedure in network science is plotting the degree distribution with both axes (x = node degree; y = frequency) on a log scale (Fig. 5B). Such analysis can provide an immediate visual representation of specialisation patterns.

The network in Fig. 5A, which we reconstructed from the data obtained in Table 2 from Chemello & Milazzo (2002), is one of the largest networks we were able to assemble. It includes six macrophyte species, 57 invertebrate (mollusc) species and 159 links. As the information reported in the study refers to three replicate samplings, each link in our network represents a potential association identified in all three replicates. As shown in Fig. 5B, the degree distribution of the invertebrate species follows a power law, where most invertebrate nodes tend to have few connections (1 link), while only a few nodes show a relatively high generalism (>5 links).

Less-obvious measures attribute importance to a node based on different criteria which consider broader portions of the network. Ideally one could obtain some measure of node importance and then compare it with other species features to test various hypotheses. For example, one could test whether the position of a node in a network is affected by specific ecological traits and, in turn, how such network position could affect the vulnerability of the target species to indirect effects of environmental change propagating through network links (Strona & Lafferty, 2016; Escribano-Avila *et al.*, 2018).

As an example, we compared the specialisation of associations *versus* macrophyte biomass in the networks obtained from co-occurrence in the data from Nakamoto *et al.* (2018). As a general expectation, specialised consumers should rely on 'stable' resources (e.g. resources that are broadly distributed, locally abundant and available through time), providing a key to the robustness and stability of ecological networks (Strona & Lafferty, 2016). For this, we find support in the network observed by Nakamoto *et al.* (2018). In Fig. 6 we show that the more 'specialised' invertebrates (that is, those connected to fewer macrophytes in the network) are preferentially associated with macrophytes having the largest overall biomass. In theory, this could make networks more robust to oscillation in resource populations compared to cases where no relationship exists between consumers' specialisation and resource availability (Strona & Lafferty, 2016). Of course, an obvious question is whether the observed pattern reflects the actual specialisation in the animal community or, instead, the observed 'specialisation' is an artefact of macrophyte abundances. This is where network analysis becomes important. Although we expect to observe more animal species



Fig. 6. Comparison between invertebrate generalism and the average total biomass of host macrophyte species (measured in the corresponding year; DW, dry weight) for the networks in Fig. 4A, B. The plot shows that the most specialised consumers (invertebrates) tend to use the most abundant resources (macrophytes), which is consistent with the theoretical expectation for a robust ecological network (Strona, Galli & Fattorini, 2013; Strona & Lafferty, 2016).



Fig. 5. (A) Unweighted network of associations between macroalgae (green) and molluscs (blue) in the Southern Mediterranean Sea, reconstructed from Chemello & Milazzo (2002). (B) Probability distribution of node degree (*k*) for molluscs in network A: nodes with low degree (fewer connections) tend to be more frequent than more highly connected nodes, confirming a pattern observed in bipartite networks (e.g. Jordano, Bascompte & Olesen, 2003).

on the more common/abundant macrophyte species simply due to chance, the simultaneous consideration of the whole network allows us to assess whether the observed degree of specialisation and network structure can be explained by the sampling process alone or whether it results from non-random associations. The consistency between network links across the two sampling seasons, and the consistency of the trajectories observed in Fig. 6, seem to suggest that the pattern is indeed a product of network structure and specialisation of associations, and not a mere result of chance.

The structure of an ecological network can reveal different processes. For example, the tendency for sharing partners in mutualistic networks (nestedness) can promote diversity by attenuating competition for resources (Bastolla et al., 2009). Similarly, the organisation of an ecological network into fairly isolated clusters of highly connected interacting species can have important implications for network persistence/ stability (Thébault & Fontaine, 2010). We explored nestedness in the network from Chemello & Milazzo (2002) reported in Fig. 5A (Fig. 7). In particular, we used the popular NODF metric (Almeida-Neto et al., 2008). The metric ranges from 0 to 100, with 100 being the score of a perfectly nested matrix. We compared the NODF value observed in the original network with the NODF values of 1000 null networks. We generated the null networks using an algorithm that randomises the position of animal-macrophyte links in the network without altering the total number of animals associated with a given plant. We then obtained a *P*-value as the fraction of null networks with a NODF value higher than that of the original matrix, and an effect size (Z) as [NODF_{obs}-mean(NODF_{null})]/std(NODF_{null}), where NOD-F_{obs} is the observed NODF, and NODF_{null} is the set of NODF values measured in the null networks. We performed the analyses using the freely available NeD software (Strona *et al.*, 2014).

In addition to this analysis, for comparative purposes, we generated the ideally most and least nested networks. These can be obtained by randomly reallocating links in the network with the only constraints being maintaining the initial number of links, and at least one link per species in the network (i.e. avoiding the generation of empty rows and columns in the matrix representing the network). Alternatively, one can generate a totally random matrix (with the same constraints). In Fig. 7 we provide visual representations of the matrices corresponding to the original network (Fig. 7A), the most nested realisation (Fig. 7B), one random realisation (Fig. 7C), and the least nested realisation (Fig. 7D), together with their NODF, \mathcal{Z} and P values. The original matrix (Fig. 7A) proved significantly nested (as commonly observed in ecological networks), and much closer to the ideal perfectly nested configuration (Fig. 7B) than to the random one (Fig. 7C), and very far from the least nested possible configuration (Fig. 7D). The presence of a nested structure is consistent with the expectation for



Fig. 7. Nestedness in a macrophyte–animal network. Each plot provides a visual matrix representation of a network, with rows corresponding to macrophytes, columns corresponding to animals and black or white cells indicating the presence or absence of an association between the corresponding plant and animal. (A) Matrix representation of the macrophyte–animal network reconstructed from Chemello & Milazzo (2002), as reported in Fig. 5A. (B) Matrix representation of a hypothetical network obtained by 'rewiring' links in the original network to maximise nestedness. (C) Matrix representation of a hypothetical network obtained by 'rewiring' links in the original network to minimise nestedness. The NODF metric ranges from 0 to 100, with 100 the score of a perfectly nested matrix; χ is effect size (see Section V.2 for details).

ecological networks, because nestedness is an expected byproduct of the same mechanisms illustrated above about consumers specialising on dependable resources (Strona *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, nestedness might be key to the emergence of complexity in multi-species communities, as the tendency to share interacting partners or resources can counteract the negative effects of interspecific competition and promote the coexistence of species (Bascompte & Jordano, 2006). Thus, the observed patterns provide circumstantial evidence confirming that the observed associations (and hence the higher-level structure emerging from those) are not a product of chance. Instead, they might indeed reflect ecological and co-evolutionary processes, although the purely illustrative nature of the example prevents us from hypothesising too far.

(3) Exploring the effect of disturbance on macrophyte-animal network structure

Networks offer a convenient framework to explore how different types of disturbance (e.g. environmental change) can propagate through (and possibly be amplified by) ecological interaction links and, more broadly, affect the structure and stability of the biological systems under study. In this section we provide two examples, one theoretical and one based on empirical data from a perturbation experiment. We then discuss the ecological information attainable by analysing macrophyte–animal network structure under different scenarios of disturbance.

(a) Mapping hypothetical co-extinction scenarios of macrophytes and animals

An informative exercise in ecological network analysis is exploring the robustness of networks to incremental species loss, that is to the subsequent removal of nodes (Memmott, Waser & Price, 2004; Dunne & Williams, 2009). The number of nodes to be removed, as well as the sequence of removal, depends on the specific objectives of the simulation. Similarly, the rules determining the effect of the loss of nodes and links (i.e. species and interactions) on the network can vary on a per case basis, depending on the starting hypotheses, the objectives of the analysis, the kind of network under examination, and the informative content of the network. For example, the rules that can be set for a weighted network differ from those for an unweighted network. The same applies to directed versus undirected networks and unipartite versus bipartite networks. In one of the simplest possible models, one can reiterate the procedure of removing one node at random from a network, and then remove the nodes left with no resources after the first removal, until no nodes are left in the network. In a food web, one can remove species in random sequence and prune the network from the portions left isolated from basal resources after each removal, 'extinction cascades' hence simulating (Dunne & Williams, 2009). In a bipartite network, such as a plantpollinator network, it is appropriate to focus on the response

of one of the two groups to the loss of interacting partners from the other group. For instance, a typical simulation consists of progressively removing plants, keeping track of the resulting pollinator diversity (or *vice versa*) (Memmott *et al.*, 2004). The results can be plotted on a graph showing the decline in pollinator diversity following the removal of plant species (i.e. in a plot showing 'primary extinctions' *versus* 'secondary extinctions' or 'co-extinctions').

The removal of species could be based on some informed criteria, for example by combining data on species thermal tolerance with projections of future climate change (Strona & Bradshaw, 2018), or could be defined according to arbitrary criteria, such as random node removal. In the latter, the true value of the analysis is that of offering a way to compare the 'intrinsic' robustness of a network to disturbances. To demonstrate such an approach, we ran a set of co-extinction simulations (Fig. 8) in the network reconstructed from the data of Chemello & Milazzo (2002) (Fig. 5A), which maps 159 associations between six macroalgae and 57 animal species. In particular, we performed three sets of node-removal simulations (with 100 replicates per set) aimed at approximating worst, random and best scenarios of network collapse following macroalgal loss. For this purpose, we progressively removed macroalgae from the network in random order, or by choosing, at each step, either the most (in the worst-case scenario) or the least (in the best-case scenario) connected macroalgal species. The worst and bestcase scenarios were simulated using a 'greedy' algorithm, that recalculates the number of connections per node at each step (as in Allesina & Pascual, 2009). After each macroalgal removal, we computed the relative fraction of animal species which were still connected to algae. We finally averaged the results, for each scenario of node removal, across the 100 replicates. For comparison, we replicated the same exercise in one of the most complete (and most famous) plant-pollinator (or better, plant-visitor) networks, mapping 15255 interactions between 456 plant species and 1044 animal species in a prairie-forest transition in Western Illinois, USA (Robertson, 1929) (note that an equivalent co-extinction simulation was conducted in Memmott et al., 2004). Rather than simulating realistic extinctions, the experiments serve to compare the trajectories of different networks, and the scenarios used here (random, best and worst) are also purely hypothetical. Nonetheless, using informed scenarios based on actual species vulnerabilities provides insights into how the primary effects of global change can propagate through network links and eventually cause the loss of species not directly affected by change. For example, we might simulate future changes by removing macrophyte species based on predicted climatic conditions. As an example of the insights gained through such approaches, Strona & Bradshaw (2018) showed how secondary effects can actually be key to mass extinctions.

Although there are clear similarities between the coextinction trajectories observed in the macrophyte-animal network compared to those observed in the plant-pollinator network, the former appears more fragile (Fig. 8). In other words, the macrophyte-animal network shows a faster



Fig. 8. Co-extinction trajectories in a macrophyte-animal and a plant-pollinator network. The macrophyte-animal network was reconstructed from Chemello & Milazzo (2002) (as reported in Fig. 5), while the plant-pollinator network maps data collected by Robertson (1929). The continuous and dashed lines represent the average trajectories obtained in 100 simulations, while the shaded areas represent 99% confidence intervals. During the simulations, plant nodes were progressively removed from the networks (mimicking plant extinctions), while keeping track of the diversity of animals for which at least one link persisted to a remaining plant. We used three different criteria to simulate plant extinctions, either removing nodes in random order or choosing to remove the most (worst-case scenario) or the least (best-case scenario) connected plant node at each step in the simulation. Note that while the co-extinction trajectories appear consistent between the two systems, animal diversity declines more rapidly in response to plant loss in the macrophyte-animal network than in the plant-pollinator network.

decline in animal diversity in response to plant loss than does a plant–pollinator network. As these co-exctinction simulations are based on only two networks and on hypothetical rather than informed scenarios of species loss, the results presented cannot be generalised. However, the consistency in the observed trajectories is encouraging, and urges the exploration of the structure and robustness of macrophyte–animal networks through approaches more commonly used in terrestrial plant–animal networks. Furthermore, the results suggest that interesting differences might exist between the systems. Thus, further investigation could yield insights into the mechanisms possibly controlling differential responses to global change-induced diversity loss among aquatic and terrestrial systems (Antão *et al.*, 2020).

(b) Effects of experimental perturbation on macrophyte-animal networks

To illustrate another application of network analysis in the study of macrophyte–animal systems under disturbance, we

use data generated from experimental perturbations of rocky intertidal macroalgal canopies [*Ericaria amentacea* (C.Agardh) Molinari & Guiry (formerly *Cystoseira amentacea* Bory var. *stricta* Montagne)]. These experiments were originally undertaken to investigate early warning indicators of regime shifts in understorey assemblages following colonisation by algal turfs (Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.*, 2015).

The experimental design consisted of two factors: (*i*) a *press* perturbation, i.e. the annual clipping of algal canopies ("canopy"), simulating the expected effects of rising temperatures, with four levels (a control and three increasing levels of perturbation); crossed with (*ii*) a *pulse* disturbance, i.e. a one-time-removal of invertebrates and algae ("clearing") in 10 cm × 10 cm patches within the experimental area, simulating the effect of strong storms, with two levels (uncleared and cleared). Each combination of treatment ('canopy' × 'clearing') levels was replicated five times, and the percentage cover of understorey invertebrates and algae was sampled eight times (approximately annually) in 20 cm × 20 cm quadrats over a 7-year experimental period (2007–2013) [see Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.*, 2015 for further details].

Starting from these experimental data, we generated networks of co-occurrence of understorey invertebrates and turf-forming algae, and then assessed the effect of the two disturbance factors ("canopy" and "clearing") on network structure and properties. We first determined which species occurred in the same sampling unit more frequently than expected by chance using the package *cooccur*, based on the probabilistic model of species co-occurrence from Veech (2013). We hence collated all the species pairs showing significant positive co-occurrence (P < 0.05) and generated invertebrate-algae co-occurrence networks under each combination of experimental treatments and sampling dates. We then computed the nestedness of each co-occurrence network as the effect-size $\langle \mathcal{Z} \rangle$ obtained by standardising the observed NODF value (Almeida-Neto et al., 2008) by the NODF values of 1000 null networks (using the procedure described in Section VI.2).

A linear mixed-effect model was fitted using the package nlme (Pinheiro et al., 2007) to test the correlation between network nestedness and the combination of 'canopy' and 'clearing' treatments (fixed effects), considering the sampling date as a random effect. The two most perturbed groups showed a significant correlation between NODF and treatments ('turf margin + clearing', t(23) = 2.42, P < 0.05; 'turf full + clearing', t(23) = 2.48, P < 0.05), indicating an interactive effect of canopy clipping and clearing on network nestedness (Fig. 9). The invasion of turf-forming algae in cleared and canopy-depleted plots hence appears to drive significant structural changes in the co-occurrence networks of understorey invertebrates and algae, with respect to unperturbed plots. Disturbance can have significant impacts on the architecture of ecological networks, and, in general, perturbed natural communities appear less structured than in stable environmental conditions (Vanbergen et al., 2014; de Assis Bomfim *et al.*, 2018). Our results reflect those reported by Benedetti-Cecchi et al. (2015), which showed dramatic shifts



Fig. 9. Values of nestedness reported as effect size [NODF(Z)] for the co-occurrence networks of understorey macroalgae and animals under different combinations of press perturbation (canopy clipping) and pulse disturbance (clearing of benthic organisms) derived from Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.* (2015). Boxplots show the first quartile, the median, and the third quartile of the NODF(Z) distribution for each combination; whiskers extend to $1.5 \times$ interquartile range, while dots indicate outliers. Asterisks show significant coefficients in the linear mixed-effect model of NODF(Z) *versus* the combinations of canopy clipping and clearing (P < 0.05) (see Section VI.3b for details). CF–, canopy full, uncleared; CM–, canopy margin, uncleared; CF+, canopy full, cleared; CM+, canopy margin, cleared; TF+, turf full, cleared; TM+, turf margin, cleared.

in understorey assemblages when press perturbation and pulse disturbance are combined.

Hence, on the one hand co-occurrence networks can provide an alternative framework to assess the effect of disturbance on macrophyte–animal assemblages in experimental studies, providing complementary, ecologically relevant information to that obtainable with other analytical approaches. On the other hand, adopting ecological networks in the context of controlled perturbation experiments allows us to establish direct causal links between shifts in species co-occurrences and network properties in response to disturbance.

VII. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The examples outlined in the previous sections show that ecological network analysis can provide a thorough understanding of patterns and processes in macrophyte–animal systems not achievable through other approaches (Section VI.2). Most notably, network analysis permits assessing the robustness of macrophyte–animal systems to disturbance and species loss (Section VI.3). In this regard, network theory is a powerful tool to assess how the structure and organisation of macrophyte–animal systems might be affected by on-going and future processes related to anthropogenic disturbance and climate change and to make predictions on future winners and losers.

As macrophyte–animal systems are embedded in littoral food webs, a future direction (anticipated in Section III) would be integrating the analysis of bipartite macrophyte– animal networks into a broader ecosystem/food-web framework. In fact, the accurate modelling of changes in macrophyte–animal links is a premise for better predicting what might happen to higher trophic levels. Clearly, this would require the additional and demanding step of identifying the links connecting animals associated with macrophytes with the other food-web consumers (e.g. fish or predatory invertebrates). Fortunately, novel techniques such as metabarcoding (e.g. used for a precise identification of fish diets through the analysis of stomach contents) make these challenges achievable (Roslin & Majaneva, 2016).

Our work is directly motivated by the ecological, societal and economic importance of macrophyte habitats and the scientific interest that they generate (Duffy *et al.*, 2019). Reinforced by the establishment of network analysis as a primary tool to unravel ecological complexity, we have little doubt that the study of macrophyte–animal networks will flourish in the coming years. We trust that this review will help catalyse this process by revealing the full potential of a network analysis approach, and by channelling research efforts towards important open questions in ecology.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) We propose bipartite ecological networks as a novel analytical framework to investigate the ecological associations between marine macrophytes (i.e. macroalgae and seagrasses) and animals, on the grounds that: (i) human impacts and global environmental change are driving rapid, profound changes in macrophyte communities worldwide, with far-reaching and currently unpredictable consequences on coastal biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. (ii) In a food-web framework, basal macrophyte-animal links are generally represented with low resolution and based only on trophic interactions. Conversely, bipartite macrophyteanimal networks provide higher detail and account for the suite of interactions through which macrophytes sustain animal diversity, increasing our ability to model processes at the macrophyte-animal interface and their potential effects on coastal ecosystems as a whole.
- (2) Through examples based on literature data, we provide guidance on how to assemble bipartite macrophyte–animal networks, explore their structure

and model the effects of disturbance on network properties. We also discuss the range of ecological information obtainable with this approach.

(3) We suggest potential future directions, built on representing the multiple types of ecological interactions at play in macrophyte–animal systems in a multi-layer framework, and on integrating macrophyte–animal networks into coastal food-webs.

IX. REFERENCES

- AIROLDI, L., BALLESTEROS, E., BUONUOMO, R., VAN BELZEN, J., BOUMA, T., CEBRIAN, E., DE CLERK, O., ENGELEN, A., FERRARIO, F. & FRASCHETTI, S. (2014). Marine forests at risk: solutions to halt the loss and promote the recovery of Mediterranean canopy-forming seaweeds. In 5th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation, pp. 28–33. Portorož, Slovenia.
- ALLESINA, S. & PASCUAL, M. (2009). Googling food webs: can an eigenvector measure species' importance for coextinctions? *PLoS Computational Biology* 5, e1000494.
- ALMEIDA-NETO, M., GUIMARÃES, P., GUIMARÃES, P. R., LOVOLA, R. D. & ULRICH, W. (2008). A consistent metric for nestedness analysis in ecological systems: reconciling concept and measurement. *Oikos* 117, 1227–1239.
- AMSLER, C. D., MCCLINTOCK, J. B. & BAKER, B. J. (2014). Chemical mediation of mutualistic interactions between macroalgae and mesograzers structure unique coastal communities along the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Journal of Phycology* 50, 1–10.
- AMSLER, M. O., HUANG, Y. M., ENGL, W., MCCLINTOCK, J. B. & AMSLER, C. D. (2015). Abundance and diversity of gastropods associated with dominant subtidal macroalgae from the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Polar Biology* 38, 1171–1181.
- ANTÃO, L. H., BATES, A. E., BLOWES, S. A., WALDOCK, C., SUPP, S. R., MAGURRAN, A. E., DORNELAS, M. & SCHIPPER, A. M. (2020). Temperaturerelated biodiversity change across temperate marine and terrestrial systems. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4, 927–933.
- ARAÚJO, M. B., ROZENFELD, A., RAHBEK, C. & MARQUET, P. A. (2011). Using species co-occurrence networks to assess the impacts of climate change. *Ecography* 34, 897–908.
- ARAÚJO, W.S. DE (2016). Global patterns in the structure and robustness of plantherbivore networks. *Frontiers of Biogeography* 8, e31053.
- ARCHER, S. K., HENSEL, E. & LAYMAN, C. A. (2018). Ambient nutrient availability drives the outcome of an interaction between a sponge (*Halichondria melanadocia*) and scagrass (*Thalassia testudinum*). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 503, 86–91.
- ARRONTES, J. (1999). On the evolution of interactions between marine mesoherbivores and algae. *Botanica Marina* 42, 137–155.
- BASCOMPTE, J. & JORDANO, P. (2006). The structure of plant-animal mutualistic networks. In *Ecological Networks: Linking Structure to Dynamics in Food Webs*, pp. 143– 159. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- BASCOMPTE, J. & JORDANO, P. (2007). Plant-animal mutualistic networks: the architecture of biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 38, 567–593.
- BASTOLLA, U., FORTUNA, M. A., PASCUAL-GARCÍA, A., FERRERA, A., LUQUE, B. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2009). The architecture of mutualistic networks minimizes competition and increases biodiversity. *Nature* **458**, 1018–1020.
- BATES, C. (2009). Host taxonomic relatedness and functional-group affiliation as predictors of seaweed–invertebrate epifaunal associations. *Marine Ecology Progress* Series 387, 125–136.
- BATES, C. R. & DEWREEDE, R. E. (2007). Do changes in scaweed biodiversity influence associated invertebrate epifauna? *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 344, 206–214.
- BAUMGARTNER, F. A., PAVIA, H. & TOTH, G. B. (2014). Individual specialization to non-optimal hosts in a polyphagous marine invertebrate herbivore. *PLoS One* 9, e102752.
- BENEDETTI-CECCHI, L., PANNACCIULLI, F., BULLERI, F., MOSCHELLA, P., AIROLDI, L., RELINI, G. & CINELLI, F. (2001). Predicting the consequences of anthropogenic disturbance: large-scale effects of loss of canopy algae on rocky shores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 214, 137–150.
- BENEDETTI-CECCHI, L., TAMBURELLO, L., MAGGI, E. & BULLERI, F. (2015). Experimental perturbations modify the performance of early warning indicators of regime shift. *Current Biology* 25, 1867–1872.
- BENNETT, A. E., EVANS, D. M. & POWELL, J. R. (2019). Potentials and pitfalls in the analysis of bipartite networks to understand plant-microbe interactions in changing environments. *Functional Ecology* 33, 107–117.

- BERRY, D. & WIDDER, S. (2014). Deciphering microbial interactions and detecting keystone species with co-occurrence networks. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 5, 219.
- BESSA, F., BAETA, A. & MARQUES, J. C. (2014). Niche segregation amongst sympatric species at exposed sandy shores with contrasting wrack availabilities illustrated by stable isotopic analysis. *Ecological Indicators* 36, 694–702.
- BIGGS, B. J. F. & MALTHUS, T. J. (1982). Macroinvertebrates associated with various aquatic macrophytes in the backwaters and lakes of the upper Clutha Valley, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 16, 81–88.
- BLANCHET, F. G., CAZELLES, K. & GRAVEL, D. (2020). Co-occurrence is not evidence of ecological interactions. *Ecology Letters* 23, 1050–1063.
- BOLTON, J. (1994). Global seaweed diversity: patterns and anomalies. Botanica Marina 37, 241–145.
- BRUDER, A., FRAINER, A., ROTA, T. & PRIMICERIO, R. (2019). The importance of ecological networks in multiple-stressor research and management. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 7, 59.
- CAGNOLO, L. & TAVELLA, J. (2015). The network structure of myrmecophilic interactions. *Ecological Entomology* 40, 553–561.
- CHEMELLO, R. & MILAZZO, M. (2002). Effect of algal architecture on associated fauna: some evidence from phytal molluscs. *Marine Biology* 140, 981–990.
- CHRISTIE, H., NORDERHAUG, K. & FREDRIKSEN, S. (2009). Macrophytes as habitat for fauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 396, 221–233.
- COLL, M., SCHMIDT, A., ROMANUK, T. & LOTZE, H. K. (2011). Food-web structure of seagrass communities across different spatial scales and human impacts. *PLoS One* **6**, e22591.
- CORDONE, G., MARINA, T. I., SALINAS, V., DOYLE, S. R., SARAVIA, L. A. & MOMO, F. R. (2018). Effects of macroalgae loss in an Antarctic marine food web: applying extinction thresholds to food web studies. *Perf* 6, e5531.
- CRAWLEY, K. R., HYNDES, G. A., VANDERKLIFT, M. A., REVILL, A. T. & NICHOLS, P. D. (2009). Allochthonous brown algae are the primary food source for consumers in a temperate, coastal environment. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 376, 33–44.
- DAYTON, P. K. (1975). Experimental evaluation of ecological dominance in a rocky intertidal algal community. *Ecological Monographs* 45, 137–159.
- DE ASSIS BOMFIM, J., GUIMARÃES, P. R. JR., PERES, C. A., CARVALHO, G. & CAZETTA, E. (2018). Local extinctions of obligate frugivores and patch size reduction disrupt the structure of seed dispersal networks. *Ecography* **41**, 1899– 1909.
- DELMAS, E., BESSON, M., BRICE, M., BURKLE, L. A., DALLA RIVA, G. V., FORTIN, M., GRAVEL, D., GUIMARÃES, P. R. JR., HEMBRY, D. H. & NEWMAN, E. A. (2019). Analysing ecological networks of species interactions. *Biological Reviews* 94, 16–36.
- DEVICTOR, V., CLAVEL, J., JULLIARD, R., LAVERGNE, S., MOUILLOT, D., THUILLER, W., VENAIL, P., VILLEGER, S. & MOUQUET, N. (2010). Dcfining and measuring ecological specialization. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 47, 15–25.
- DHARGALKAR, V., BURTON, H. & KIRKWOOD, J. (1988). Animal associations with the dominant species of shallow water macrophytes along the coastline of the Vestfold Hills, Antarctica. In *Biology of the Vestfold Hills, Antarctica* (eds J. M. FERRIS, H. R. BURTON, G. W. JOHNSTONE and I. A. E. BAYLY PASCUAL), pp. 141–150. Springer, Dordrecht.
- DONATTI, C. I., GUIMARÃES, P. R., GALETTI, M., PIZO, M. A., MARQUITTI, F. M. & DIRZO, R. (2011). Analysis of a hyper-diverse seed dispersal network: modularity and underlying mechanisms. *Ecology Letters* 14, 773–781.
- DORMANN, C. F., BLÜTHGEN, N., MOORE, J., MCCANN, K., DE RUITER, P. & WOLTERS, V. (2017). Food webs versus interaction networks: principles, pitfalls and perspectives. *Cambridge University Press* 3, 1–11.
- DUARTE, C. M., MARBÀ, N., GACIA, E., FOURQUREAN, J. W., BEGGINS, J., BARRÓN, C. & APOSTOLAKI, E. T. (2010). Seagrass community metabolism: assessing the carbon sink capacity of seagrass meadows. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 24, GB4032.
- DUFFY, J. E., BENEDETTI-CECCHI, L., TRINANES, J., MULLER-KARGER, F. E., AMBO-RAPPE, R., BOSTRÖM, C., BUSCHMANN, A. H., BYRNES, J., COLES, R. G., CREED, J., CULLEN-UNSWORTH, L. C., DIAZ-PULIDO, G., DUARTE, C. M., EDGAR, G. J., FORTES, M., et al. (2019). Toward a coordinated global observing system for seagrasses and marine macroalgae. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6, 317.
- DUFFY, J. E. & HAY, M. E. (1991). Food and shelter as determinants of food choice by an herbivorous marine amphipod. *Ecology* 72, 1286–1298.
- DUNNE, J. A. (2006). The network structure of food webs. In *Ecological Networks: Linking Structure and Dynamics* (eds J. A. DUNNE and M. PASCUAL), pp. 27–86. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- DUNNE, J. A. & WILLIAMS, R. J. (2009). Cascading extinctions and community collapse in model food webs. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 364, 1711–1723.
- EDGAR, G. J., BARRETT, N. S., MORTON, A. J. & SAMSON, C. R. (2004). Effects of algal canopy clearance on plant, fish and macroinvertebrate communities on eastern Tasmanian reefs. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **312**, 67–87.
- ESCRIBANO-AVILA, G., LARA-ROMERO, C., HELENO, R. & TRAVESET, A. (2018). Tropical seed dispersal networks: emerging patterns, biases, and keystone species

- FONTAINE, C. & THÉBAULT, E. (2015). Comparing the conservatism of ecological interactions in plant–pollinator and plant–herbivore networks. *Population Ecology* 57, 29–36.
- FREILICH, M. A., WIETERS, E., BROITMAN, B. R., MARQUET, P. A. & NAVARRETE, S. A. (2018). Species co-occurrence networks: can they reveal trophic and non-trophic interactions in ecological communities? *Ecology* **99**, 690–699.
- GARCÍA-CALLEJAS, D., MOLOWNY-HORAS, R. & ARAÚJO, M. B. (2018). Multiple interactions networks: towards more realistic descriptions of the web of life. *Oikos* 127, 5–22.
- GEE, J. & WARWICK, R. (1994). Metazoan community structure in relation to the fractal dimensions of marine macroalgae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 103, 141–150.
- GERRISH, N. & BRISTOW, J. M. (1979). Macroinvertebrate associations with aquatic macrophytes and artificial substrates. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 5, 69–72.
- GOLLETY, C., THIEBAUT, E. & DAVOULT, D. (2011). Characteristics of the Ascophyllum nodosum stands and their associated diversity along the coast of Brittany, France. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 91, 569–577.
- GONZÁLEZ-DUARTE, M. M., MEGINA, C. & SUBIDA, M. D. (2020). Anti-herbivory protection by mutualism in marine ecosystems: the case of kelps and hydroids. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 235, 106578.
- GORMAN, D., HORTA, P., FLORES, A. A., TURRA, A., BERCHEZ, F. A. D. S., BATISTA, M. B., LOPES FILHO, E. S., MELO, M. S., IGNACIO, B. L. & CARNEIRO, I. M. (2020). Decadal losses of canopy-forming algae along the warm temperate coastline of Brazil. *Global Change Biology* 26, 1446–1457.
- GREEN, E. P. & SHORT, F. T. (2003). World Atlas of Seagrasses. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- GUIMARÃES, P. R. JR., SAZIMA, C., REIS, S. F. D. & SAZIMA, I. (2007). The nested structure of marine cleaning symbiosis: is it like flowers and bees? *Biology Letters* 3, 51–54.
- GUSTAFSSON, C. & BOSTRÖM, C. (2009). Effects of plant species richness and composition on epifaunal colonization in brackish water angiosperm communities. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 382, 8–17.
- HÄLLFORS, G. & NIEMI, A. (1981). Vegetation and primary production. In *The Ballic Sea. Elsevier Oceanography Series* (ed. A. VOIPIO), pp. 220–238. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier.
- HARRIS, D. J. (2016). Inferring species interactions from co-occurrence data with Markov networks. *Ecology* 97, 3308–3314.
- HAY, M. E., DUFFY, J. E. & FENICAL, W. (1990). Host-plant specialization decreases predation on a marine amphipod: an herbivore in plant's clothing. *Ecology* 71, 733–743.
- HAY, M. E., DUFFY, J. E., PFISTER, C. A. & FENICAL, W. (1987). Chemical defense against different marine herbivores: are amphipods insect equivalents? *Ecology* 68, 1567–1580.
- HEISER, S., AMSLER, C. D., MCCLINTOCK, J. B., SHILLING, A. J. & BAKER, B. J. (2020). Every rule has an exception: a cheater in the community-wide mutualism in antarctic seaweed forests. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* **60**, 1358–1368.
- HEPBURN, C. D. & HURD, C. L. (2005). Conditional mutualism between the giant kelp *Macrocystis pyrifera* and colonial epifauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 302, 37–48.
- HOWARTH, R. W., ANDERSON, D., CLOERN, J. E., ELFRING, C., HOPKINSON, C. S., LAPOINTE, B., MALONE, T., MARCUS, N., MCGLATHERY, K. & SHARPLEY, A. N. (2000). Nutrient pollution of coastal rivers, bays, and seas. *Issues in Ecology* 7, 1–16.
- HUANG, Y. M., AMSLER, M. O., MCCLINTOCK, J. B., AMSLER, C. D. & BAKER, B. J. (2007). Patterns of gammaridean amphipod abundance and species composition associated with dominant subtidal macroalgae from the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Polar Biology* **30**, 1417–1430.
- HURD, C. L., DURANTE, K. M. & HARRISON, P. J. (2000). Influence of bryozoan colonization on the physiology of the kelp *Macrocystis integrifolia* (Laminariales, Phacophyta) from nitrogen-rich and-poor sites in Barkley Sound, British Columbia, Canada. *Phycologia* 39, 435–440.
- IKEN, K. (2012). Grazers on benthic seaweeds. In Seaweed Biology (eds C. WIENCKE and K. BISCHOF), pp. 157–175. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- INGS, T. C., MONTOYA, J. M., BASCOMPTE, J., BLÜTHGEN, N., BROWN, L., DORMANN, C. F., EDWARDS, F., FIGUEROA, D., JACOB, U., JONES, J. I., LAURIDSEN, R. B., LEDGER, M. E., LEWIS, H. M., OLESEN, J. M., VAN VEEN, F. J. F., et al. (2009). Review: ecological networks - beyond food webs. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 78, 253–269.
- INNOCENTI, R. A., FEAGIN, R. A. & HUFF, T. P. (2018). The role of Sargassum macroalgal wrack in reducing coastal erosion. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 214, 82–88.
- JAYATHILAKE, D. R. & COSTELLO, M. J. (2018). A modelled global distribution of the seagrass biome. *Biological Conservation* 226, 120–126.
- JORDANO, P. (2016a). Chasing ecological interactions. PLoS Biology 14, e1002559.
- JORDANO, P. (2016b). Sampling networks of ecological interactions. Functional Ecology 30, 1883–1893.

- JORDANO, P., BASCOMPTE, J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2003). Invariant properties in coevolutionary networks of plant–animal interactions. *Ecology Letters* 6, 69–81.
- KAHMA, T. I., KARLSON, A. M. L., LIÉNART, C., MÖRTH, C.-M., HUMBORG, C., NORKKO, A. & RODIL, I. F. (2021). Food-web comparisons between two shallow vegetated habitat types in the Baltic Sea. *Marine Environmental Research* 169, 105402.
- KÉFI, S., BERLOW, E. L., WIETERS, E. A., JOPPA, L. N., WOOD, S. A., BROSE, U. & NAVARRETE, S. A. (2015). Network structure beyond food webs: mapping nontrophic and trophic interactions on Chilean rocky shores. *Ecology* **96**, 291–303.
- KRAUFVELIN, P. & SALOVIUS, S. (2004). Animal diversity in Baltic rocky shore macroalgae: can Cladophora glomerata compensate for lost Fucus vesiculosus? Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 61, 369–378.
- KRAUSE-JENSEN, D. & DUARTE, C. M. (2016). Substantial role of macroalgae in marine carbon sequestration. *Nature Geoscience* 9, 737–742.
- KURASHOV, E. A., TELESH, I. V., PANOV, V. E., USENKO, N. V. & RYCHKOVA, M. A. (1996). Invertebrate communities associated with macrophytes in Lake Ladoga: effects of environmental factors. In *The First International Lake Ladoga Symposium*, pp. 49–55. Springer, Dordrecht.
- LAFFERTY, K. D., ALLESINA, S., ARIM, M., BRIGGS, C. J., DE LEO, G., DOBSON, A. P., DUNNE, J. A., JOHNSON, P. T., KURIS, A. M. & MARCOGLIESE, D. J. (2008). Parasites in food webs: the ultimate missing links. *Ecology Letters* 11, 533–546.
- LANDI, P., MINOARIVELO, H. O., BRÄNNSTRÖM, Å., HUI, C. & DIECKMANN, U. (2018). Complexity and stability of ecological networks: a review of the theory. *Population Ecology* **60**, 319–345.
- LASTRA, M., PAGE, H. M., DUGAN, J. E., HUBBARD, D. M. & RODIL, I. F. (2008). Processing of allochthonous macrophyte subsidies by sandy beach consumers: estimates of feeding rates and impacts on food resources. *Marine Biology* 154, 163–174.
- LERAY, M. & KNOWLTON, N. (2015). DNA barcoding and metabarcoding of standardized samples reveal patterns of marine benthic diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, 2076–2081.
- LEUNG, T. & POULIN, R. (2008). Parasitism, commensalism, and mutualism: exploring the many shades of symbioses. Vie et Milieu/Life & Environment 58, 107–115.
- LEWIS, F. G. (1987). Crustacean epifauna of seagrass and macroalgae in Apalachee Bay, Florida, USA. *Marine Biology* 94, 219–229.
- LIÉNART, C., CIRTWILL, A. R., HEDGESPETH, M. L. & BRADSHAW, C. (2021). A sprinkling of gold dust: pine pollen as a carbon source in Baltic Sea coastal food webs. *Limnology and Oceanography* 67, 53–65.
- LILLEY, S. A. & SCHIEL, D. R. (2006). Community effects following the deletion of a habitat-forming alga from rocky marine shores. *Oecologia* 148, 672–681.
- LIPPERT, H., IKEN, K., RACHOR, E. & WIENCKE, C. (2001). Macrofauna associated with macroalgae in the Kongsfjord (Spitsbergen). *Polar Biology* 24, 512–522.
- MACHADO, G. B. O., FERREIRA, A. P., BUENO, M., SIQUEIRA, S. G. L. & LEITE, F. P. P. (2019). Effects of macroalgal host identity and predation on an amphipod assemblage from a subtropical rocky shore. *Hydrobiologia* 836, 65–81.
- MCGLATHERY, K., SUNDBÄCK, K. & ANDERSON, I. (2007). Eutrophication in shallow coastal bays and lagoons: the role of plants in the coastal filter. *Marine Ecology Progress* Series 348, 1–18.
- MELIÁN, C. J., BASCOMPTE, J., JORDANO, P. & KRIVAN, V. (2009). Diversity in a complex ecological network with two interaction types. *Oikos* 118, 122–130.
- MEMMOTT, J., WASER, N. M. & PRICE, M. V. (2004). Tolerance of pollination networks to species extinctions. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 271, 2605–2611.
- MHLANGA, L. & SIZIBA, N. (2006). The association between invertebrates and macrophytes in a tropical reservoir, Lake Kariba, Zimbabwe: a preliminary survey. African Journal of Aquatic Science 31, 271–274.
- MINEUR, F., ARENAS, F., ASSIS, J., DAVIES, A. J., ENGELEN, A. H., FERNANDES, F., MALTA, E., THIBAUT, T., VAN NGUYEN, T. & VAZ-PINTO, F. (2015). European seaweeds under pressure: consequences for communities and ecosystem functioning. *Journal of Sea Research* 98, 91–108.
- MOMO, F. R., CORDONE, G., MARINA, T. I., SALINAS, V., CAMPANA, G. L., VALLI, M. A., DOYLE, S. R. & SARAVIA, L. A. (2020). Seaweeds in the Antarctic marine coastal food web. In *Antarctic Seaweeds: Diversity, Adaptation and Ecosystem Services* (eds I. GOMEZ and P. HUOVINEN), pp. 293–307. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- MUÑOZ, J., CANCINO, J. M. & MOLINA, M. X. (1991). Effect of encrusting bryozoans on the physiology of their algal substratum. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of* the United Kingdom **71**, 877–882.
- MURPHY, K., EFREMOV, A., DAVIDSON, T. A., MOLINA-NAVARRO, E., FIDANZA, K., BETIOL, T. C. C., CHAMBERS, P., GRIMALDO, J. T., MARTINS, S. V. & SPRINGUEL, I. (2019). World distribution, diversity and endemism of aquatic macrophytes. *Aquatic Botany* **158**, 103127.
- NAKAMOTO, K., HAYAKAWA, J., KAWAMURA, T., KODAMA, M., YAMADA, H., KITAGAWA, T. & WATANABE, Y. (2018). Phylogenetically diverse macrophyte community promotes species diversity of mobile epi-benthic invertebrates. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **207**, 56–62.

Federica Manca et al.

- NARANJO, C., IRIONDO, J. M., RIOFRIO, M. L. & LARA-ROMERO, C. (2019). Evaluating the structure of commensalistic epiphyte–phorophyte networks: a comparative perspective of biotic interactions. *AoB Plants* **11**, plz011.
- NORDLUND, L. M., UNSWORTH, R. K. F., GULLSTRÖM, M. & CULLEN-UNSWORTH, L. C. (2018). Global significance of seagrass fishery activity. *Fish and Fisheries* 19, 399–412.
- OLIVIER, P., FRELAT, R., BONSDORFF, E., KORTSCH, S., KRÖNCKE, I., MÖLLMANN, C., NEUMANN, H., SELL, A. F. & NORDSTRÖM, M. C. (2019). Exploring the temporal variability of a food web using long-term biomonitoring data. *Ecography* 42, 2107–2121.
- ONDIVIELA, B., LOSADA, I. J., LARA, J. L., MAZA, M., GALVÁN, C., BOUMA, T. J. & VAN BELZEN, J. (2014). The role of seagrasses in coastal protection in a changing climate. *Coastal Engineering* 87, 158–168.
- PARKER, J., DUFFY, J. & ORTH, R. (2001). Plant species diversity and composition: experimental effects on marine epifaunal assemblages. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 224, 55–67.
- PEREIRA, S. G., LIMA, F. P., QUEIROZ, N. C., RIBEIRO, P. A. & SANTOS, A. M. (2006). Biogeographic patterns of intertidal macroinvertebrates and their association with macroalgae distribution along the Portuguese coast. *Hydrobiologia* 555, 185–192.
- PIAZZI, L., BONAVIRI, C., CASTELLI, A., CECCHERELLI, G., COSTA, G., CURINI-GALLETTI, M., LANGENECK, J., MANCONI, R., MONTEFALCONE, M., PIPITONE, C., ROSSO, A. & PINNA, S. (2018). Biodiversity in canopy-forming algae: structure and spatial variability of the Mediterranean *Cystoseira* assemblages. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 207, 132–141.
- PILOSOF, S., PORTER, M. A., PASCUAL, M. & KÉFI, S. (2017). The multilayer nature of ecological networks. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1, 1–9.
- PINHEIRO, J., DEB ROY, S., SARKAR, D. & TEAM, R.C. (2007). Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1–89.
- POCOCK, M. J., EVANS, D. M. & MEMMOTT, J. (2012). The robustness and restoration of a network of ecological networks. *Science* **335**, 973–977.
- POELEN, J. H., SIMONS, J. D. & MUNGALL, C. J. (2014). Global biotic interactions: an open infrastructure to share and analyze species-interaction datasets. *Ecological Informatics* 24, 148–159.
- PORRI, F., HILL, J. M. & MCQUAID, C. D. (2011). Associations in ephemeral systems: the lack of trophic relationships between sandhoppers and beach wrack. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 426, 253–262.
- PUCHE, E., ROJO, C., RAMOS-JILIBERTO, R. & RODRIGO, M. A. (2020). Structure and vulnerability of the multi-interaction network in macrophyte-dominated lakes. *Oikos* 129, 35–48.
- QUIMBAYO, J. P., CANTOR, M., DIAS, M. S., GRUTTER, A. S., GINGINS, S., BECKER, J. H. A. & FLOETER, S. R. (2018). The global structure of marine cleaning mutualistic networks. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 27, 1238–1250.
- REUSCH, T. B. H., EHLERS, A., HAMMERLI, A. & WORM, B. (2005). Ecosystem recovery after climatic extremes enhanced by genotypic diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **102**, 2826–2831.
- RINDI, L., BELLO, M. D., DAI, L., GORE, J. & BENEDETTI-CECCHI, L. (2017). Direct observation of increasing recovery length before collapse of a marine benthic ecosystem. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1, 1–7.
- ROBERTSON, C. (1929). Flowers and Insects: Lists of Visitors of Four Hundred and Fifty-Three Flowers. National Center for Ecological Analysis and Synthesis Interaction Web Database, Carlinville. Electronic file available at http://www.nceas.ucsb.edu/ interactionweb/html/robertson_1929.html.
- ROOKE, J. B. (1984). The invertebrate fauna of four macrophytes in a lotic system. Freshwater Biology 14, 507–513.
- ROSLIN, T. & MAJANEVA, S. (2016). The use of DNA barcodes in food web construction—terrestrial and aquatic ecologists unite! *Genome* 59, 603–628.
- RUNGHEN, R., POULIN, R., MONLLEÓ-BORRULL, C. & LLOPIS-BELENGUER, C. (2021). Network analysis: ten years shining light on host-parasite interactions. *Trends in Parasitology* 37, 445–455.
- RUSSELL, G. & VELTKAMP, C. (1984). Epiphyte survival on skin-shedding macrophytes. Marine Ecology Progress Series. Oldendorf 18, 149–153.
- RUSSO, A. R. (1989). Fluctuations of epiphytal gammaridean amphipods and their seaweed hosts on an Hawaiian algal reef. *Crustaceana* 57, 25–37.
- RUSSO, A. R. (1990). The role of seaweed complexity in structuring Hawaiian epiphytal amphipod communities. *Hydrobiologia* 194, 1–12.
- SAARINEN, A., SALOVIUS-LAURÉN, S. & MATTILA, J. (2018). Epifaunal community composition in five macroalgal species – what are the consequences if some algal species are lost? *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 207, 402–413.
- SALO, T. & GUSTAFSSON, C. (2016). The effect of genetic diversity on ecosystem functioning in vegetated coastal ecosystems. *Ecosystems* 19, 1429–1444.
- SCHAAL, G., LECLERC, J.-C., DROUAL, G., LEROUX, C. & RIERA, P. (2016). Biodiversity and trophic structure of invertebrate assemblages associated with understorey red algae in a *Laminaria digitata* bed. *Marine Biology Research* 12, 513–523.
- SOTKA, E. E. (2005). Local adaptation in host use among marine invertebrates. *Ecology Letters* **8**, 448–459.

- STRAIN, E. M. A., THOMSON, R. J., MICHELI, F., MANCUSO, F. P. & AIROLDI, L. (2014). Identifying the interacting roles of stressors in driving the global loss of canopy-forming to mat-forming algae in marine ecosystems. *Global Change Biology* 20, 3300–3312.
- STRONA, G. & BRADSHAW, C. J. (2018). Co-extinctions annihilate planetary life during extreme environmental change. *Scientific Reports* 8, 1–12.
- STRONA, G., GALLI, P. & FATTORINI, S. (2013). Fish parasites resolve the paradox of missing coextinctions. *Nature Communications* 4, 1–5.
- STRONA, G., GALLI, P., SEVESO, D., MONTANO, S. & FATTORINI, S. (2014). Nestedness for Dummies (NeD): a user-friendly web interface for exploratory nestedness analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software* 59, 1–9.
- STRONA, G. & LAFFERTY, K. D. (2016). Environmental change makes robust ecological networks fragile. *Nature Communications* 7, 1–7.
- TAKOLANDER, A., CABEZA, M. & LESKINEN, E. (2017). Climate change can cause complex responses in Baltic Sea macroalgae: a systematic review. *Journal of Sea Research* 123, 16–29.
- TANO, S., EGGERTSEN, M., WIKSTRÖM, S. A., BERKSTRÖM, C., BURIYO, A. S. & HALLING, C. (2016). Tropical seaweed beds are important habitats for mobile invertebrate epifauna. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 183, 1–12.
- TAYLOR, R. & COLE, R. (1994). Mobile epifauna on subtidal brown seaweeds in northeastern New Zealand. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 115, 271–282.
- THAKAR, J. D., KUNTE, K., CHAUHAN, A. K., WATVE, A. V. & WATVE, M. G. (2003). Nectarless flowers: ecological correlates and evolutionary stability. *Oecologia* 136, 565–570.
- THÉBAULT, E. & FONTAINE, C. (2010). Stability of ecological communities and the architecture of mutualistic and trophic networks. *Science* 329, 853–856.
- TROWBRIDGE, C. D. (1993). Feeding ecology of the ascoglossan opisthobranch Aphysiopsis enteromorphae (Cockerell & Eliot): patterns of distribution and impact on tidepool-dwelling green algae. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 169, 233–257.
- TROWBRIDGE, C. D. (2004). Emerging associations on marine rocky shores: specialist herbivores on introduced macroalgae. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 73, 294–308.
- UNSWORTH, R. K. F., COLLIER, C. J., WAYCOTT, M., MCKENZIE, L. J. & CULLEN-UNSWORTH, L. C. (2015). A framework for the resilience of seagrass ecosystems. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 100, 34–46.
- VALIENTE-BANUET, A., AIZEN, M. A., ALCÁNTARA, J. M., ARROYO, J., COCUCCI, A., GALETTI, M., GARCÍA, M. B., GARCÍA, D., GÓMEZ, J. M., JORDANO, P., MEDEL, R., NAVARRO, L., OBESO, J. R., OVIEDO, R., RAMÍREZ, N., et al. (2015). Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. *Functional Ecology* 29, 299–307.
- VANBERGEN, A. J., WOODCOCK, B. A., GRAY, A., GRANT, F., TELFORD, A., LAMBDON, P., CHAPMAN, D. S., PYWELL, R. F., HEARD, M. S. & CAVERS, S. (2014). Grazing alters insect visitation networks and plant mating systems. *Functional Ecology* 28, 178–189.
- VEECH, J. A. (2013). A probabilistic model for analysing species co-occurrence. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22, 252–260.
- VIRNSTEIN, R. W. & HOWARD, R. K. (1987). Motile epifauna of marine macrophytes in the Indian River Lagoon, Florida. II. Comparisons between drift algae and three species of seagrasses. *Bulletin of Marine Science* **41**, 13–26.
- VIZENTIN-BUGONI, J., MARUYAMA, P. K., DE SOUZA, C. S., OLLERTON, J., RECH, A. R. & SAZIMA, M. (2018). Plant-pollinator networks in the tropics: a review. In *Ecological Networks in the Tropics* (eds W. Dáttilo and V. RICO-GRAY), pp. 73–91. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- WATANABE, K., YOSHIDA, G., HORI, M., UMEZAWA, Y., MOKI, H. & KUWAE, T. (2020). Macroalgal metabolism and lateral carbon flows can create significant carbon sinks. *Biogeosciences* 17, 2425–2440.
- WEITZ, J. S., POISOT, T., MEYER, J. R., FLORES, C. O., VALVERDE, S., SULLIVAN, M. B. & HOCHBERG, M. E. (2013). Phage-bacteria infection networks. *Trends in Microbiology* 21, 82–91.
- WELTI, E., HELZER, C. & JOERN, A. (2017). Impacts of plant diversity on arthropod communities and plant–herbivore network architecture. *Ecosphere* 8, e01983.
- WERNBERG, T., BENNETT, S., BABCOCK, R. C., DE BETTIGNIES, T., CURE, K., DEPCZYNSKI, M., DUFOIS, F., FROMONT, J., FULTON, C. J. & HOVEY, R. K. (2016). Climate-driven regime shift of a temperate marine ecosystem. *Science* 353, 169–172.
- WERNBERG, T., COLEMAN, M. A., BENNETT, S., THOMSEN, M. S., TUYA, F. & KELAHER, B. P. (2018). Genetic diversity and kelp forest vulnerability to climatic stress. *Scientific Reports* **8**, 1–8.
- WERNBERG, T., KRUMHANSL, K., FILBEE-DEXTER, K. & PEDERSEN, M. F. (2019). Status and trends for the world's kelp forests. In *World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation* (ed. C. SHEPPARD), pp. 57–78. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.
- WIKSTRÖM, S. A. & KAUTSKY, L. (2007). Structure and diversity of invertebrate communities in the presence and absence of canopy-forming *Fucus vesiculosus* in the Baltic Sea. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 72, 168–176.
- Woodward, G., Benstead, J. P., Beveridge, O. S., Blanchard, J., Brey, T., Brown, L. E., Cross, W. F., Friberg, N., Ings, T. C., Jacob, U.,

JENNINGS, S., LEDGER, M. E., MILNER, A. M., MONTOYA, J. M., O'GORMAN, E., et al. (2010). Ecological networks in a changing climate. *Advances in Ecological Research* **42**, 71–138.

- YORK, P. H., HYNDES, G. A., BISHOP, M. J. & BARNES, R. S. (2018). Faunal assemblages of seagrass ecosystems. In *Seagrasses of Australia* (eds A. W. D. LARKUM, G. A. KENDRICK and P. J. RALPH), pp. 541–588. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- ZHANG, C., ZHOU, W., SUN, X., KE, S., LIU, Y. & SONG, Z. (2021). Seasonal and spatial variations of macrobenthic community in intertidal Sargassum field off Naozhou Island, South China Sea. Journal of Oceanology and Limnology 39, 637–651.

X. Supporting information

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article. **Table S1.** List of exact queries used to identify studies addressing different types of ecological networks.

(Received 1 October 2021; revised and accepted 9 February 2022; published online 16 February 2022)